RECEIVED

Aug 25 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price
South Carolina Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001204

TEMISAN ETIKERENTSE and IJOEMA ETIKERENTSEAppellants,

v.

SPECIALIZED LOAN SERVICING, LLC Respondent.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Robert B. Varnado (S.C. Bar # 007085)
VARNADO LAW FIRM, LLC
36 Broad Street, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 737-7301
Attorneys for Appellants

August 25, 2021
Charleston, South Carolina

INTRODUCTION

In 2008, a South Carolina District Bankruptcy Court recognized that: “[u]nder South Carolina law one finds the general proposition that ‘[t]he plaintiff in a foreclosure suit should be the real, beneficial owner of the mortgage debt.’ 27 S.C. Juris. Mortgages § 107.” *In re Woodberry*, 383 B.R. 373, 379 (Bankr. Ct. D.S.C. 2008). “Despite the statement of the general proposition,” the *Woodberry* Court found that “it appears that foreclosures and motions for relief from the stay are frequently brought by parties other than the beneficial owner...by virtue of its *pecuniary interest* in collecting payments under the terms of the note and mortgage.” *Id.*

That is exactly what has occurred here.

In fact, the record establishes the existence of an un-appealed *Order Granting Motion For Relief From Stay Filed By Creditor Specialized Loan Servicing LLC*, (“SLS” or “Respondent”). Testimony also exists from the attorney for the purported foreclosing party (Wilmington Trust) that *Respondent SLS* (1) retained the law firm of Riley Pope & Laney, LLC (“RPL Firm”), and (2) directed him “to file a foreclosure action naming Wilmington Trust as the Plaintiff.” [R. p. 187-189]. These acts certainly establish the basis that SLS is responsible for the entirety of Plaintiff Wilmington Trust’s (“Wilmington”) foreclosure action against the client. In fact, SLS Assistant Vice President Mark McCloskey has **importantly** conceded that their actions are derivative of its servicing agreement with Wilmington by testifying that, “at all times, SLS has acted only as servicer of the note and mortgage on behalf of the holder [sic] of the same, which is Wilmington.” [R. p. 234-236].

Moreover, on April 23, 2020, SLS executed a “Stipulation and Consent to the Issuance of a Consent Order.” [R. p. 344]. By this Stipulation, SLS has consented to the issuance by the Consumer Finance Protection Bureau of Administrative Proceeding File No. 2020-BCFP-0002, *In the Matter of: Specialized Loan Servicing, Consent Order* dated May 7, 2020, (“Consent Order”). The Consent Order (signed by SLS) states “the facts necessary to establish the [Bureau of Financial Protection’s] jurisdiction over Respondent and the subject matter of this action” under 12 U.S.C. §§ 5563 & 5565.

Therein, SLS admitted “the following law violations: (1) Respondent violated the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. § 2601 *et seq.*, its implementing regulation, Regulation X, 12 C.F.R. part 1024, and the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA) by taking prohibited foreclosure actions against certain borrowers, in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(f)(2) and (g); and (2) Respondent violated RESPA, Regulation X, and the CFPA by failing to send or timely send evaluation notices to certain borrowers, in violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(c)(1).” *Id.* ¶. 1.

Summary judgment, therefore, should not have been granted by the circuit court.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

DOES THE CIRCUIT COURT HAVE APPELLATE JURISDICTION OVER A FINAL UNAPPEALED ORDER OF A FEDERAL BANKRUPTCY COURT?

No.

DOES THE CIRCUIT COURT HAVE APPELLATE JURISDICTION OVER A FEDERAL AGENCY’S FINDING IN A CONSENT ORDER?

No.

DID THE CIRCUIT COURT IGNORE THE MYRIAD OF RECORDS AND TESTIMONY PRODUCED BY RESPONDENT RAISING GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT?

Yes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 15, 2007, through his attorney in fact [his wife, Ijeoma Etikerentse], Temisan Etikerentse issued a \$1,402,500.00 *Interest Only Adjustable Rate Note* (“Note”) to Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“CHL” or “Originator”). Repayment of the Note was secured by a Mortgage (the “Mortgage”) on the real property located at 783 Navigators Run, Mount Pleasant, S.C., in the name of Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. (“MERS”), as nominee for CHL.

On or before August 1, 2007, CHL negotiated, via blank endorsement, the Note to EMC Mortgage Corporation (“Sponsor”) as the Seller/Sponsor of a separate pool of 3,186 notes and mortgages.

EMC then sold and transferred the pool to the depositor, *Structured Asset Mortgage Investment II, Inc.*, (“SAMI II”) who in turn sold and transferred it to REMIC Trust, *Bear Stearns ALT-A Trust II, 2007-1*, (“BALTA II”) under EIN 30-0183252. [R. pp. 342-343].

This REMIC Trust was created and was governed by a Pooling and Servicing Agreement (“PSA”), which designated Citibank, N.A. as the Indentured Trustee to hold the qualified mortgages for the exclusive benefit of the holder of the certificates that represent interest in the Trust (“Certificateholders 2007-1”). [PSA II § 2.02.]

Also, pursuant to the PSA, CHL retained mortgage servicing rights for the mortgage loans it originated absent any equitable title. *See also* 11 U.S.C. § 541(d). [PSA II § 2.02.]

For reasons not ultimately clear, on November 16, 2008, CHL accelerated the Note. [R. p. 235].

Then, on April 23, 2009, CHL was renamed Bank of America Home Loans (“BAC Home Loans”) and two years later, BAC Home Loans was acquired by Bank of America, N.A. (“BANA”) on June 30, 2011.

[REDACTED]

Sometime thereafter, Citibank resigned and was replaced by Wilmington Trust, N.A. (“Wilmington”) as the indentured Trustee; and on November 1, 2012, BANA named SLS as its *subservicer*.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

Thereafter, on March 16, 2015, SLS *again* wrote to Etikerentse and again disclosed that “THIS IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY, THIS COMMUNICATION IS FROM A DEBT COLLECTOR.” This letter, however, stated that the December 2014 Modification has been denied because “you have failed to comply with the terms of the offer by not returning the fully executed modification documents” that were never provided. [R. pp. 249-252].

Once again, SLS disclosed that “[t]he requirements for this evaluation were set forth and performed in accordance with the Pooling and Servicing Agreement between Specialized Loan Servicing, LLC and WILMINGTON TRUST, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO CITIBANK, N.A. AS TRUSTEE OF

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

In the spring of 2016, SLS retained the RPL Firm in Columbia, and directed that attorney Damon C. Wlodarczyk (“Wlodarczyk”) “to file a foreclosure action naming Wilmington Trust as the Plaintiff.” [R. p. 187-189, at ¶ 2].

On April 8, 2016, a foreclosure complaint naming *Wilmington Trust as Successor Trustee to Citibank as Trustee on behalf of the Holders of Bear Stearns Alt-A Trust II, Mortgage Pass Through Certificates, Series 2007-1* was filed in Charleston County. [Case number 2016-CP-10-1987]. Specifically, its cause of action was based on non-payment of a discharged debt by Bankruptcy Court David Duncan on December 12, 2014!

Through his attorney, Dr. Etikerentse answered, counterclaimed and brought a third party claim against SLS. The gravamen of his complaint is SLS failed to adhere to loss mitigation disclosures required under 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41 before filing various foreclosure related pleadings and motions.

It should further be remembered that in this case, Wilmington Trust went into default on the counterclaim; its attorney testified in an affidavit that: “my firm was retained by Specialized Loan Servicing (‘SLS’) to bring an action for foreclosure on behalf of the Plaintiff.” Being paid by SLS to institute the claim, RPL Firm initially felt that it would defend the third-party action. (*Id.* at ¶ 8). But then counsel for SLS – Nelson Mullins – *appeared for Wilmington Trust* to set aside an entry of default in 2016-CP-10-1987. Thus, this is further proof that Wilmington Trust is simply a part that SLS ***directed its legal team to name as the foreclosing party to escape actions undertaken by it alone.***

Procedural History

Eventually, the matter came before the Circuit Court on motions for summary judgment – one by SLS (filed October 17, 2019), which Plaintiffs filed its memorandum in opposition on July 10, 2020; and one by Wilmington Trust (filed on January 31, 2020), covered by the same July 10, 2020 memorandum by Appellants.

Hearings were held virtually on July 13, 2020 and July 15, 2020 before the Honorable Bentley D. Price. He issued a Form 4 Order of July 22, 2020 granting SLS’s Motion for Summary Judgment (which the undersigned received written notice of on July 22, 2020) but denying Wilmington Trust’s motion. He also invited the parties to submit formal orders.

Out of an abundance of caution, Appellants filed their full Motion to Reconsider on July 29, 2020; Judge Price denied this motion by Form 4 Order of August 5, 2020 without necessity of a hearing.

On August 6, 2020 SLS submitted a proposed formal order; on August 14, 2020, SLS filed a Motion to Alter or Amend to include findings of fact and conclusions of law. Judge Price entered the formal order prepared by counsel for the Respondent on August 17, 2020.

The instant appeal was then filed by Appellants nine (9) days later on August 26, 2020 and filed with the Charleston County Clerk of Court on August 27, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals reviews the grant of a summary judgment motion under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP. *Lemmons v. Macedonia Waterworks, Inc.*, 431 S.C. 182, 191, 841 S.E.2d 471, 474 (Ct. App. 2020). Rule 56(c), SCRCP, provides that summary judgment shall be granted when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Further, when a circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, such as statutory interpretation, the appellate court must review the ruling de novo. *Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 212, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290 (2019).

Because Appellant raises pre-emption of a South Carolina’s regulatory or adjudicatory powers, “[s]uch a determination of congressional intent and of the boundaries and character of a pre-empting congressional enactment is one of federal law. Pre-emption,

the practical manifestation of the Supremacy Clause, is always a federal question.” *Longshoremen v. Davis*, 476 U.S. 380, 388 (1986). Any procedural ruling would therefore implicate an underlying question of federal law and state law is not an independent and adequate state ground to support the Circuit Court’s judgment. *Id.*

Based upon the Constitutional questions raised this appeal lies in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court. When, like here, “the notice of appeal is filed in the wrong appellate court, the appellate court in which the matter is filed *shall* issue an order transferring the case to the appropriate appellate court.” Rule 204(a), South Carolina Appellate Court Rules (“SCACR”). Rule 204(b) SCACR is clearly **inapplicable**.

Any motion to certify would therefore be unnecessary because Rule 204(a)’s use of the term “shall” indicates the transfer of the appeal is a mandatory rule. *See, e.g., South Carolina Police Officers Retirement Sys. v. Spartanburg*, 301 S.C. 188, 190, 391 S.E.2d 239, 244 (1990) (“shall” is considered mandatory under principles of statutory interpretation); *South Carolina Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp. v. Dickinson*, 288 S.C. 189, 191, 341 S.E.2d 134, 135 (1996) (“Ordinarily the use of the word ‘shall’ in a statute means that the action referred to is mandatory.”).

LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Rule 14 Argument.

SLS's primary ground for summary judgment under Rule 14(a), SCRCPP, is predicated on the assertion by its Affiant Mark McCloskey that it "is not and has never been a party to the note or mortgage at issue in this action, or a successor thereto." [R. pp. 234-236]. SLS argues therefore "it cannot possibly be liable, in whole or in part, for Wilmington's foreclosure claim against the Plaintiffs."

Under Rule 14, the third-party plaintiff [Etikerentse] must have a substantive claim against the third-party defendant founded upon derivative liability. *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. 548, 560, 799 S.E.2d 479, 486 (2017). Both the term "servicer" and "servicing" are defined by federal regulations promulgated under 12 U.S.C. § 2601, *et seq.*, known as the "Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974" ("RESPA¹"). *See* 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2(b). "Servicer means a person responsible for the servicing of a federally related mortgage loan." *Id.* Fatal to Respondent's position is its concession that "at all times, SLS has acted only as servicer of the note and mortgage on behalf of the holder [sic] of the same, which is [Wilmington Trust as Trustee]." [R. pp. 234-236]. Based on McCloskey's affidavit testimony SLS cannot pass the definition of a servicer who is also "the person who makes or holds such loan." *Id.*

It is therefore axiomatic that SLS's ability to receive "any scheduled periodic payments from a borrower pursuant to the terms of any federally related mortgage loan, including amounts for escrow accounts under section 10 of RESPA (12 U.S.C. § 2609),

¹ RESPA is a remedial consumer protection statute, and it imposes obligations upon servicers of federally related mortgage loans. [*See* HAMP/SCUTPA/RESPA argument, p. 14, *infra*].

and making the payments to the owner of the loan or other third parties of principal and interest and such other payments with respect to the amounts received from the borrower as may be required pursuant to the terms of the...servicing contract,” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.2(b)², are derivative of “the person who makes or holds such loan.” *Id.*

What really matters here is SLS’ reliance upon its pecuniary interest as a servicer to both retain and direct Attorney Johnson to file a [REDACTED] as well as hire and direct attorney Wlodarczyk “to file a foreclosure action naming Wilmington Trust as the Plaintiff.” *Companion Property Casualty Insurance Company v. U.S. Bank, National Association*, 2016 WL 3027552, C/A 3:15-cv-01300-JMC (D.S.C. 2016) (declaring that “Third-Party Defendants need only have a ‘pecuniary interest in the transaction.’”); *see also Roberts v. Peterson*, 292 S.C. 149, 152, 355 S.E.2d 280, 281 (Ct. App. 1987) (noting that where the state rule has adopted the language of a federal rule, federal cases interpreting the federal rule are persuasive).

There is no dispute that Bankruptcy Courts in South Carolina allow servicers to file *Motions for Relief from Stay* based on “[t]he general rule is that a mortgage servicer has standing by virtue of its pecuniary interest in collecting payments under the terms of the note and mortgage.” *In re Woodberry*, 383 B.R. 373, 379 (Bankr. Ct. D.S.C. 2008).

Absent the Bankruptcy Court [REDACTED]

[REDACTED], the Circuit Court would be

² 12 C.F.R. 1024.2(b) allows a servicer to “receive” payments and in no way authorizes a servicer (who is not the owner or holder of the loan) to enforce the Note and Mortgage. *See Butner v. United States*, 440 U. S. 48, 54-55 (1979), “[p]roperty interests are created and defined by state law. The justifications for application of state law are not limited to ownership interests, but apply with equal force to security interests, including the interest of a mortgagee.” *Butner, supra*, at 55.

without jurisdiction over the foreclosure action filed April 2016. *Kalb v. Feuerstein*, 308, U.S. 433, 439 (1940) (“The Constitution grants Congress exclusive power to regulate bankruptcy and under this power Congress can limit the jurisdiction which courts, state or federal, can exercise over the person and property of a debtor who duly invokes the bankruptcy law.”); *Ritzen Group Inc. v. Jackson Masonry, LLC*, 140 S.Ct. 582, 585 (2020) (Under the Bankruptcy Code, Appellant’s filing a Chapter 7 petition for bankruptcy automatically “‘operates as a stay’ of creditors’ debt-collection efforts outside the umbrella of the bankruptcy case. 11 U.S.C. § 362(a).”; *see also Id.* at 590 (elucidating that a bankruptcy court’s “[r]uling on a motion for stay relief, it is true, will determine where the adjudication of an adversary claim will take place—in the bankruptcy forum or state court.”)).

In a similar vein, had SLS not relied on *Bank of America v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 222, 746 S.E.2d 478, 482 (Ct. App. 2013), where the S.C. Court of Appeals ignored its Constitutional duty to be bound by decisions of the U.S and S.C. Supreme Courts, and agreed with the “general view, which has been accepted in this jurisdiction and others, that a loan servicer is a ‘party in interest’ and has standing by virtue of its pecuniary interest in collecting payments under the terms of the note and mortgage” then *no* foreclosure action would have been filed at all. Testimony exists from the attorney for the purported foreclosing party that SLS *alone*: (1) retained and paid the RPL Firm and (2) directed him “to file a foreclosure action naming Wilmington Trust as the Plaintiff.”

Consequently, a non-party is subject to impleader only if there is a basis to assert that he is liable to the named defendant(s) for all or part of the plaintiff’s claim. *Smith v. Tiffany*, 419 S.C. at 560, 799 S.E.2d at 486 (2017). The outcome of the principal claim

must impact the third-party defendant's liability. *First Gen. Serv. of Charleston v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 349, 341-342, 445 S.E. 2d 446, 447 (1994). A foreclosure action presents just such an imminent loss to the mortgagor.

It is irrelevant whether the bankruptcy court [REDACTED] was correct or “otherwise.”³

The only question before this Court is whether the United States Bankruptcy Court had jurisdiction [REDACTED]. *See Williamson v. Berry*, 49 U.S. 495, 543 (1850), (“[w]henver the right to property is claimed to have been changed under a judgment or decree by a court, and it is set up as a defense in another court, the jurisdiction of the former may be inquired into.”). Clearly, because a bankruptcy court’s order resolving a creditor’s motion for relief from the automatic stay constitutes a final order, then under the United States Supreme Court’s decision *Ritzen Group*, the bankruptcy

³ This appeal does not ask our state courts to an attempt to admonish a federal court and the certified bankruptcy attorneys before it who overlooked a nearly three century old statute establishing the “rights and title of mortgagor and mortgagee” in South Carolina. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-10 (2007). In South Carolina, “the mortgagor shall be deemed the owner of the land and the mortgagee as owner of the money lent or due and the mortgagee shall be entitled to recover satisfaction for such money out of the land by foreclosure and sale according to law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-10 (2007); *see also Butner v. United States*, 440 U. S. 48, 54-55 (1979), “[p]roperty interests are created and defined by state law. The justifications for application of state law are not limited to ownership interests, but apply with equal force to security interests, including the interest of a mortgagee.” *Butner, supra*, at 55.

The statute remains unchanged today and its history is cited as: 1962 Code Section 45-51; 1952 Code Section 45-51; 1942 Code Section 8701; 1932 Code Section 8701; Civ. C. 1922 Section 5223; Civ. C. 1912 Section 3460; Civ. C. 1902 Section 2374; G. S. 2299; R. S. 1893.

court's jurisdiction cannot be questioned. 140 S.Ct. at 585. SLS therefore cannot now assert it alone has not caused Appellant to face the very real danger of foreclosure.

Here, there is more than enough basis to assert the claim against SLS, because: (1) there is not a lawyer truly representing Wilmington, nor is Wilmington really involved; (2) SLS is paying and directing both sets of lawyers; (3) there are no Wilmington documents supporting the foreclosure, but in fact all of the relevant documents produced in the case are from SLS; (4) even the lawyer for "Wilmington" is also asking for summary judgment based on SLS's affidavit; and (5) controlling the foreclosure process by hiring the RPL Firm (purported counsel for Wilmington Trust). Thus, SLS cannot prevail on its Rule 14 and the circuit court should be reversed in its grant of summary judgment to SLS.

B. HAMP/SCUTPA/RESPA Argument.

The Appellant also alleges that the foreclosure action would have never occurred if Respondent had properly fulfilled its disclosure requirements pertaining to loss mitigation options under 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41. This is a question of federal law and some background is necessary:

In the wake of the 2008 financial crisis, Congress established the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB"), an independent regulatory agency tasked with ensuring that consumer debt products are safe and transparent. *See* Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank), 124 Stat. 1376.

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