**RECEIVED**

**Jul 28 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001204  
Case No. 2018-CP-10-02762

Wilmington Trust National Association as Successor  
Trustee to Citibank N.A. as Trustee of Structured Asset  
Mortgage Investments II Inc., Bear Stearns ALT-A Trust  
II Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2007-1, ..... Plaintiff,

v.

Temisan Etikerentse a/k/a Temisan L. Etikerentse,  
Ijeoma Etikerentse a/k/a Ijeoma Etkis, Suntrust Mortgage  
Inc., Capital Bank Corporation, Bank of America NA,

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

*Phillips v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC*, 92 F. Supp. 3d 1255 (N.D. Ga. 2015) held similarly. The *Phillips* court found that a consent judgment from a separate administrative matter was not evidence supporting the plaintiff's claim. *See id.* at 1293 (explaining that the defendant having "entered into a settlement agreement in another case in which it was also accused of committing alleged errors in the servicing of mortgage loans is not evidence that it committed errors with respect to the Plaintiff's Loan in this case"); *see also, e.g., Faiella v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n*, No. 16-CV-088-JD, 2017 WL 6375600, at \*7 (D.N.H. Dec. 13, 2017), *aff'd*, 928 F.3d 141 (1st Cir. 2019) (finding that a consent decree between the defendant and the CFPB should not be credited as any evidence of wrongdoing on the part of the defendant who neither admitted nor denied the allegations therein); *Castellanos v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC*, No. 1:17-CV-20593-UU, 2017 WL 7796303, at \*3 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 31, 2017) (granting a motion in

---

<sup>8</sup> As the Fourth Circuit has explained, it would violate Rule 408 (which prohibits the admissibility of evidence of compromise offers and negotiations to prove or disprove the validity of a disputed claim) to admit a consent order for purposes of proving the truth of the matters on which compromise had been reached. *Johnson v. Hugo's Skateway*, 974 F.2d 1408, 1413 (4th Cir. 1992).

limine prohibiting plaintiff from introducing any evidence regarding a consent order between the defendant and the CFPB entered in a separate matter).

Therefore, the lower court correctly found that the Consent Order was not admissible evidence supporting any wrongful act committed by SLS.<sup>9</sup> Regardless, even if the Consent Order could be considered evidence of generalized wrongful acts committed by SLS, Appellants still did not submit any evidence of any impropriety by SLS *in this case*—nor could they since SLS in fact complied with its obligations under RESPA.<sup>10</sup> The lower court properly granted summary judgment and this Court should affirm.

**F. Appellants’ brief fails to confront that their claims failed on the merits due to a dearth of supporting evidence.**

The arguments Appellants raise to this court are largely procedural issues that either were not raised to the lower court or were tangential and properly rejected by the court. SLS addresses those arguments in turn below. However, the overarching reason for affirming the lower court is Appellants’ failure to submit even a scintilla of any *evidence* to the lower court in support of their claims.

---

<sup>9</sup> Appellants’ brief asserts that the Consent Order caused a “shifting of the burden” requiring *SLS* to determine the damages it caused to *Appellants*. This argument was not raised to the lower court and is unpreserved. Moreover, Appellants offer no support for this proposition and, in practice, it would lead to an absurd result. Appellants are, in essence, saying that it is incumbent on SLS to provide evidence supporting their claims despite being unable to produce any themselves. The Supreme Court case Appellants cite does not support their position. *See generally Bd. of Governors of Fed. Reserve Sys. v. MCorp Fin., Inc.*, 502 U.S. 32, 38 (1991).

<sup>10</sup> Appellants’ brief also asserts that the CFPB Consent Order constitutes “prima facie” evidence of a UTPA claim pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-140(c). This argument is also unpreserved and without merit. The portion of § 39-5-140(c) quoted by Appellants provides that injunctions, judgments, or court orders made pursuant S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-50 shall constitute prima facie evidence that the respondent employed an unlawful method. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-140(c). However, § 39-5-50 solely relates to *actions brought by the Attorney General of South Carolina* for an injunction against violation of the UTPA. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-50(a). Thus, that provision has no applicability here.

It is axiomatic that if a party “files no counter-affidavits, and makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the [lower] court is *required* under Rule 56, to grant summary judgment” if the facts presented by the defendant support that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Higgins v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 326 S.C. 592, 598-99, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added) (quoting *Humana Hospital-Bayside v. Lightle*, 305 S.C. 214, 216, 407 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1991)). “When a non-movant fails to cite materials in the record to support her assertion that an issue of fact is genuinely disputed, the court is under no obligation to ‘scour the record in search of evidence to defeat a motion for summary judgment.’” *Hickerson v. Yamaha Motor Corp.*, No. 8:13-CV-02311-JMC, 2016 WL 7324684, at \*12 (D.S.C. Dec. 16, 2016) (quoting *Ritchie v. Glidden Co.*, 242 F.3d 713, 723 (7th Cir. 2001)).

Here, the lower court properly granted summary judgment because the evidentiary record conclusively established that there were no genuine issues of material fact for trial. This Court should affirm.

## **II. The CFPB Consent Order did not strip South Carolina courts of jurisdiction.**

Appellants next argue that the lower court did not have jurisdiction or authority to proceed with hearing SLS’s motion for summary judgment in light of the Consent Order. Appellants argue that because the Consent Order provided that SLS must undertake certain corrective actions, SLS was required to do so prior to pursuing disposition of Appellants’ claims on the merits.

### **A. Appellants lack the power to seek enforcement of the Consent Order.**

It is well-established that nonparties to an administrative consent order do not have a right of action to seek enforcement of its terms. The Fifth Circuit addressed this very issue last year. *See Willis v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., L.L.C.*, 803 F. App’x 761, 764 (5th Cir. 2020).

As the court explained, “private persons may not bring actions to enforce violations of consent decrees to which they are not a party.” *Id.* Only Congress may craft a private right of action, and this limitation applies to regulatory rulings like CFPB consent orders. *See id.* Where the consent order at issue specifies that the CFPB is the enforcer, it does not invoke a private right of action. *See id.*

The Third Circuit rejected a similar argument in *Conway v. U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n as trustee for structured asset securities corporation, structured asset investment loan trust, mortgage pass-through certificates, series 2005-2*, 804 F. App’x 120, 122-23 (3d Cir. 2020). The plaintiff in *Conway* argued that the defendant violated a consent judgment with the CFPB and that it related to his state law claims. The court, however, rejected this argument and explained that the plaintiff “has neither argued nor shown that the consent judgment created rights that could be enforced by third parties.” *Id.* This rule applies even where nonparties are intended beneficiaries of the consent order. *See id.*; *see also Benjamin v. Fremont Inv. & Loan*, No. 17-11727-PBS, 2018 WL 4017595, at \*10 (D. Mass. Aug. 22, 2018) (explaining that a plaintiff who was not a party to a consent judgment “has no standing to enforce *any obligation* imposed on the parties to the consent judgment”).

By asserting that SLS was required to undertake certain affirmative acts pursuant to the Consent Order before the court could proceed with considering its motion for summary judgment, Appellants indirectly sought enforcement of the Consent Order’s terms. The lower court correctly determined that Appellants lacked standing to assert any such claims.

**B. South Carolina courts continue to have jurisdiction over this case.**

Appellants also asserted that the jurisdictional provision under which the CFPB issued the order, 12 U.S.C. § 5563(d)(2), deprived South Carolina courts of jurisdiction.<sup>11</sup> This statute, however, details the enforcement powers of the CFPB and its hearing and adjudication process. *See id.* The subsection cited by Appellants details special rules for the enforcement of CFPB orders *by the CFPB* and notes that except as otherwise provided “no court shall have jurisdiction to affect by injunction or otherwise the issuance or enforcement of any notice or order or to review, modify, suspend, terminate, or set aside any such notice or order” issued pursuant to this statute. *Id.*

The lower court correctly found that this statute had no impact on its ability to hear and rule on SLS’s motion or the merits of Appellants’ claims. As the lower court explained, § 5563(d)(2) is in the CFPB’s enabling legislation and concerns the CFPB’s own enforcement powers. *See generally* 12 U.S.C. § 5563. Subsection (d) simply gives the *CFPB* the power to seek enforcement of its orders through the court system but provides that otherwise no court has jurisdiction to affect the issuance or enforcement of the Consent Order or alter its terms. *See id.*

Appellants nevertheless contend that the CFPB order and enabling statute stripped South Carolina courts of subject matter jurisdiction. Subject matter jurisdiction concerns the “court’s constitutional or statutory power to adjudicate a case.” *Johnson v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole,*

---

<sup>11</sup> Appellants also describe this argument as raising “pre-emption” of South Carolina’s regulatory or adjudicatory powers. Preemption is not discussed in any detail in Appellants’ brief. Moreover, Appellants did not argue preemption below aside from a passing reference in their motion to reconsider to the terms of the Note being governed by the Home Ownership Lending Act, which they assert preempts South Carolina law defining “default.” (Mot. to Reconsider at 5; R. 358.) Therefore, to the extent Appellants purport to raise “preemption” this argument is not preserved. *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 470, 719 S.E.2d 640, 645 (2011) (holding that the issue preservation principles applied to Appellant’s preemption argument and finding the issue unpreserved).

*& Pardon Servs.*, 372 S.C. 279, 284, 641 S.E.2d 895, 897 (2007). In other words, it involves the court’s “power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005)). Here, Appellants have not argued that the lower court lacked the *power* to hear this general class of case. This case began with Wilmington Trust asserting the foreclosure claim against Appellants in 2016. Appellants asserted counterclaims against Wilmington Trust and then willingly opted to assert “third-party” claims in this forum against SLS for issues related to SLS’s servicing of their loan. Appellants have not contended that the court of common pleas lacked the ability to hear the types of claims they asserted against SLS. Therefore, their “subject matter” jurisdiction argument is without merit.

Appellants only complained of the court’s “jurisdiction” to proceed on the eve of the summary judgment hearing after they failed to come forward with any specific evidence supporting that SLS acted improperly. Appellants’ position is more appropriately characterized as an assertion that SLS failed to comply with administrative conditions precedent (which, as detailed above, they have no authority to enforce) rather than a “subject matter jurisdiction” argument. The lower court properly rejected Appellants’ argument that § 5563(d)(2) deprived it of subject matter jurisdiction. This Court should affirm.

**III. Appellants’ argument that SLS failed to comply with RESPA during its 2014 loss mitigation review is not preserved and is without merit.**

As detailed above, Appellants’ claims each related to SLS’s purported violation of RESPA’s loss mitigation procedures. Appellants’ pleading and arguments to the lower court largely centered on SLS’s actions in connection with the 2016 loss mitigation review. For the first time on appeal, however, Appellants argue that certain filings and communications by SLS during Temisan Etikerente’s bankruptcy support that SLS violated RESPA in connection with its

2014 loss mitigation review.<sup>12</sup> Specifically, Appellants contend that SLS did not actually offer a loan modification in 2014 because there was no record of any modification in the bankruptcy court records. Appellants also cite to emails from SLS's bankruptcy which they contend circumstantially support that Etikerentse and/or his counsel did not receive the 2014 loan modification documents. *None* of the materials relied on by Appellants to support this argument were submitted to the lower court. Therefore, the materials and references thereto were stricken via the Court's order partially granting SLS's motion to strike.

This argument was not presented to the lower court as a ground for denying SLS's motion for summary judgment. Therefore, the Court should refuse to consider this argument in light of Appellants' failure to previously raise it and properly preserve it for review. "It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review." *Staubes v. City of Folly Beach*, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Res. Dep't*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997)). Where a party fails to raise the issue in its briefing and argument to the trial court, that party is precluded from raising that issue on appeal. *Easterling v. Burger King Corp.*, 416 S.C. 437, 452-53, 786 S.E.2d 443, 451-452 (Ct. App. 2016). As the Supreme Court explained in *Herron v. Century BMW*, the issue preservation rules are "designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review." 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642

---

<sup>12</sup> SLS filed a motion to strike both this unpreserved argument, found on pages 17 to 20 of Appellants' brief, and improperly designated materials that were not presented to the lower court. The Court granted that motion in part via Order dated March 24, 2021. The Court provided that it would consider preservation of the challenged argument along with the merits. However, the Court granted SLS's motion to strike the improperly designated documents and provided that they shall not be referenced in Appellants' brief. The effect of the Order was to largely excise this argument since it was almost entirely based on the stricken documents.

(2011). “The requirement also . . . prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Because the lower court never had an opportunity to consider or rule on the argument raised on pages 17 through 20 of Appellants’ brief, it should not be considered by this Court. Moreover, even if the Court could consider this argument, the only evidence presented to the lower court established that SLS conducted a loss mitigation review of Appellants’ loan in 2014 and offered a standard loan modification. SLS submitted sworn affidavit testimony and supporting exhibits establishing this fact. (McCloskey Aff. at ¶ 10 & Ex. 2 – Approval Decision Letter dated 12/12/2014; R. 236, 241-47.) Appellants did not submit an affidavit, deposition testimony, or any other supporting evidence rebutting this evidence to the lower court. Therefore, this argument is without merit.

**IV. Appellants’ Rule 14 argument is based on a fundamentally flawed understanding of the Rule and the proper basis for “third-party” claims.**

SLS’s Rule 14 argument represented an additional, alternative ground for granting summary judgment. As detailed above, the primary basis for the lower court’s ruling was the lack of any evidence presented by Appellant contradicting SLS’s arguments. However, as the lower court’s order explained, summary judgment was also appropriate because Appellants’ claims were improperly pled as “third-party” claims against SLS.

Pursuant to Rule 14(a), “a defending party, as a third-party plaintiff, may cause a summons and complaint to be served upon a person not a party to the action *who is or may be liable to him for all or part of the plaintiff’s claim against him.*” Rule 14(a), SCRPC (emphasis added). Thus, “[u]nder Rule 14, the third-party plaintiff must have a substantive claim against

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